IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,244

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX NOV 2 4 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_____

PATRICIA MARKOWITZ and ROBERT MARKOWITZ, her husband,

Petitioners,

VS.

HELEN HOMES OF KENDALL CORPORATION, a Florida corporation, a/k/a KENDALL HEALTH CARE PROPERTIES, fictitious name, d/b/a THE PALACE LIVING FACILITY,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

By: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioners, Patricia Markowitz and Robert Markowitz, were plaintiffs below in a negligence action against the respondent, Helen Homes of Kendall Corporation. Their initial complaint (R. 3) alleged that the defendant operated a nursing home/assisted living facility in which Mrs. Markowitz's elderly mother was a resident; that, while visiting her mother on June 29, 1995, Mrs. Markowitz slipped on a grape in the main area of the facility, near a nurse's station, and fell to the floor, causing her serious injuries; and that the defendant knew or should have known of this dangerous condition but negligently failed to correct it. Damages were sought for Mrs. Markowitz's personal injuries and for Mr. Markowitz's loss of consortium. The defendant answered, generally denying liability (R. 13).

Following extensive discovery (the pertinent details of which we will set out in our statement of the facts), the defendant moved for summary judgment (R. 44). The motion conceded that Mrs. Markowitz had slipped and fallen on a grape; that grapes were served to the facility's residents in the dining room; and that the grape was probably dropped on the floor by an elderly resident who was carrying food from the nearby dining room to his or her room. The motion did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to prove three elements of the alleged tort — duty, proximate causation, and damages. It was limited solely to the "breach of duty" element of the tort. It contended that the plaintiffs could not prove that the defendant was negligent because there was no evidence that the defendant had actual knowledge of the presence of the grape, or that the grape had been on the floor for a sufficient

length of time to provide it with constructive notice of its presence.¹/

The plaintiffs contended in response (R. 72) that three of the defendant's employees were engaged in a conversation in the immediate vicinity of the fall and therefore should have been aware of the presence of the grape, and that a material issue of fact was therefore presented on the issue of constructive notice. The plaintiffs also contended that the defendant's policy of permitting its elderly and infirm residents to carry food from the dining room to their rooms, without supervision, was, under the circumstances, an unreasonably dangerous "method of operation" which a jury could permissibly find to have been a negligent cause of Mrs. Markowitz's injuries, whether or not the defendant was on notice of the particular grape on which she slipped and fell. An affidavit of an expert nursing home/assisted living facility administrator was attached to the response to support both contentions (R. 81).

The trial court granted the defendant's motion, and entered a summary final judgment in the defendant's favor (R. 130). The plaintiffs then filed a timely motion for rehearing (R. 100). With the agreement of the defendant, the plaintiffs also filed an amended complaint which set forth their theory of the defendant's negligent "method of operation" with more specificity (R. 118, 119). The trial court thereafter entered an order stating that it had reconsidered the defendant's motion for summary

As an additional ground, the motion asserted that "no facts have been developed providing any evidence that the maintenance procedures of the Defendant were the cause of [Mrs. Markowitz's] fall" (R. 45). Because we did not contend otherwise below, this assertion amounts to a non-issue at this point, so we will make no further mention of it.

judgment in light of the expanded allegations of the amended complaint, but that the motion for rehearing was nevertheless denied (R. 131). A timely appeal followed (R. 126).

The District Court of Appeal, Third District, affirmed the defendant's judgment with a written opinion. Markowitz v. Helen Homes of Kendall Corp., 736 So.2d 775 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). It held that the evidence was insufficient to suggest either actual or constructive notice; and it rejected the plaintiffs' theory of negligent "method of operation" on the ground that there was no evidence proving a prior similar incident. This Court thereafter granted discretionary review.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Before we can state the facts, we must briefly address a procedural problem presented by the record on appeal. For some reason that remains unexplained, the depositions did not find their way into the record. However, both the defendant's motion for summary judgment and the plaintiffs' response to the motion contained lengthy recitations of the facts, derived from the depositions. We therefore proposed in the district court that the facts be taken from the motion and the response, and we offered to supplement the record with copies of the depositions if either the defendant or the court desired. In its answer brief, the defendant agreed that the facts were

^{2/} The district court's opinion recites that the appeal was taken from an order granting the defendant's motion for summary judgment and denying the plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. This is inaccurate. The plaintiffs did not move for summary judgment below. The appeal was taken from the summary final judgment entered in the defendant's favor by the trial court.

adequately collected in the motion and the response, and that supplementation of the record was unnecessary. The district court did not request supplementation thereafter, and the case was decided on the facts recited in the motion and the response. As support for the facts which follow, the Court is therefore referred to the facts as stated in the defendant's motion for summary judgment and the plaintiffs' response thereto -- at R. 44-57, 72-84.

After entering the front door of the facility, and to reach the elevators which would take her to the floor on which her elderly mother resided, Mrs. Markowitz was required to traverse a hallway in front of a nurses' station. The hallway was tiled, with a marble-type surface. The facility's dining room was nearby, and for residents to reach the elevators that would return them to their activities or rooms after eating, they were required to traverse the same hallway. The floor area in front of the nurses' station was therefore a heavily trafficked area -- perhaps the most heavily trafficked area in the facility, especially during mealtimes. Despite the fact that residents of the facility were elderly and infirm in varying degrees, the defendant permitted them to carry food from the dining room to their rooms after their meals.

Mrs. Markowitz entered the facility around 1:00 p.m., at the end of the lunch hour, and at a time when residents were leaving the dining room. While walking down the hallway toward the elevators, she slipped and fell on a grape. For purposes of its motion for summary judgment, the defendant conceded that the grape had probably been dropped by an elderly resident who had been eating lunch in the dining room, and who had been carrying food from the dining room toward the elevators,

en route to his or her room.

Three of the defendant's employees were in the immediate vicinity of Mrs. Markowitz's fall, engaged in conversation. Two of them were behind the counter of the nurses' station. One of them was standing in the hallway itself. Although this employee had her back to the area in which Mrs. Markowitz slipped and fell, she was so close to the grape that Mrs. Markowitz actually grabbed onto her in an effort to prevent her fall. Each of these employees denied knowledge of the presence of the grape, and the plaintiffs were unable to develop any evidence of how long the grape had been on the floor before Mrs. Markowitz slipped on it. 3/2

The record contains the affidavit of Stephen M. Wittenberg, who possesses a Masters Degree in Health Care Administration and who currently serves as a co-administrator of a nursing home facility in South Florida. Mr. Wittenberg stated that he was familiar with the standards pertaining to proper administration of nursing homes and assisted living facilities; that he had reviewed the depositions and the photographs of the area in which Mrs. Markowitz fell; and that, in his opinion, the defendant failed to exercise reasonable care in the following respects:

a. It is not reasonable to allow residents to remove food from the dining area. Residents of facilities like this should either eat in the dining area or the food should be brought to their room by an employee. Allowing residents to move through the facility with food created an unnecessary and unreasonable hazard which directly caused the Plaintiff's injury. The risk was foreseeable to Defendant,

The plaintiffs were also unable to develop any evidence of deficiencies in the defendant's regular floor maintenance procedures. *See* footnote 1, *supra*.

since it is well known that elderly people in facilities like the Defendant's are likely to spill food because of their diminished balance, strength and equilibrium.

- b. Defendant was negligent in failing to immediately notice that food had been spilled. The uncontroverted evidence is that there were three employees on duty at the nurses' station in the immediate area where the Plaintiff fell. They should have seen one of their residents spill the food, and should have picked it up before the Plaintiff fell on it. This is especially true since the resident had to have passed the nurses' station with the food in going from the dining room to the elevators. Given that the faculty [sic] allows residents (improperly) to carry food through this very busy area, the staff should have been instructed to watch the residents when they do so. Had the staff been so trained, or if so trained, had they complied with that training, the spilled food would have been picked up immediately before anyone would have had an opportunity to slip and fall.
- c. Defendant was negligent in not having an aide accompany residents going from the dining room to their rooms with food.
- (R. 81-83). And it was on these facts that the district court concluded that the defendant was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

III. ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED ON THE ISSUE OF THE DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE, AND THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS THEREFORE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Our argument will be sufficiently brief that a summary of it would amount to little more than mere repetition, at the Court's expense. Suffice it to say that we will demonstrate that the district court erred in concluding that the defendant was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. It erred in affirming the defendant's summary final judgment because the evidence was sufficient to present a jury question on both of the plaintiffs' theories of liability. On the evidence adduced, a jury could permissibly find (1) that the defendant's "method of operation" was negligent, and (2) that the defendant was on constructive notice of the grape and negligently failed to remove it. And, respectfully requesting the Court's indulgence in the brevity of this summary, we turn directly to the merits.

V. ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED ON THE ISSUE OF THE DEFENDANT'S NEGLIGENCE, AND THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS THEREFORE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

It is axiomatic, of course, that it was the defendant's burden below to disprove our allegations of negligence, and to disprove them *conclusively*; that we are entitled to have the evidence viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs here, with all conflicts resolved and all reasonable inferences drawn in their favor; and that, because negligence cases are not ordinarily proper subjects for summary disposition,

all doubts must be resolved in our favor here. See Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985); Wills v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 351 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1977); Holl v. Talcott, 191 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1966); Visingardi v. Tirone, 193 So.2d 601 (Fla. 1966); Gonzalez v. B & B Cash Grocery Stores, Inc., 692 So.2d 297 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). These points are too well settled to belabor.

It is our position that the evidence, viewed in the proper light, will permit a jury finding of negligence on two independent grounds: (1) that the defendant's policy of permitting its elderly residents to carry food from the dining room to their rooms, through heavily trafficked areas of the facility and without assistance or supervision, presented a foreseeable and unreasonable risk of creating slip and fall hazards that could cause harm to others; and (2) that the defendant was on constructive notice of the particular grape on which Mrs. Markowitz slipped and fell because three of its employees were in the immediate vicinity -- and one was standing within inches of the grape -- at a time when residents were leaving the dining room with food in their hands and returning to their rooms, and the employees unreasonably failed to detect the grape and remove it from the floor. We will elaborate upon each of these positions in turn.

A. A jury could permissibly find that the defendant's "method of operation" was negligent.

Our first contention will be constructed upon thoroughly settled principles of Florida law. We will begin with the general, and proceed to the specific. The overarching principle -- the long-settled general rule that *all* persons whose endeavors

create a foreseeable risk of harm to others owe a duty of reasonable care toward the persons who may be harmed -- was recently reiterated by this Court as follows:

... Foreseeability clearly is crucial in defining the scope of the general duty placed on every person to avoid negligent acts or omissions. Florida, like other jurisdictions, recognizes that a legal duty will arise whenever a human endeavor creates a generalized and foreseeable risk of harming others. As we have stated:

Where a defendant's conduct creates a *foreseeable zone of risk*, the law generally will recognize a duty placed upon defendant either to lessen the risk or see that sufficient precautions are taken to protect others from the harm that the risk poses.

Kaisner [v. Kolb], 543 So.2d [732,] at 735 [(Fla. 1989)]. . . . Thus, as the risk grows greater, so does the duty, because the risk to be perceived defines the duty that must be undertaken. . . .

The statute books and case law, in other words, are not required to catalogue and expressly proscribe every conceivable risk in order for it to give rise to a duty of care. Rather, each defendant who creates a risk is required to exercise prudent foresight whenever others may be injured as a result. This requirement of reasonable, general foresight is the core of the duty element. For these reasons, duty exists as a matter of law and is not a factual question for the jury to decide: Duty is the standard of conduct given to the jury for gauging the defendant's factual conduct. As a corollary, the trial and appellate courts cannot find a lack of duty if a foreseeable zone of risk more likely than not was created by the defendant.

McCain v. Florida Power Corp., 593 So.2d 500, 503 (Fla. 1992). Accord Kitchen v. K-Mart Corp., 697 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 1997); Stevens v. Jefferson, 436 So.2d 33, 35

(Fla. 1983); Green Springs, Inc. v. Calvera, 239 So.2d 264, 265-66 (Fla. 1970); Carter v. Livesay Window Co., 73 So.2d 411, 413 (Fla. 1954); Smith v. Hinkley, 98 Fla. 132, 123 So. 564, 566 (1929); Heaven v. Pender, 11 Q.B.D. 503 (1883).

And in the more specific context presented here, because Mrs. Markowitz was indisputably an "invitee" on the defendant's premises, the defendant indisputably owed her a duty to exercise reasonable care for her safety, including the duty to keep its premises in a reasonably safe condition for their intended use. *See Hall v. Billy Jack's, Inc.*, 458 So.2d 760 (Fla. 1984); *Everett v. Restaurant & Catering Corp.*, 738 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); *Nichols v. Home Depot, Inc.*, 541 So.2d 639 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); *Budet v. K-Mart Corp.*, 491 So.2d 1248 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); *Gunlock v. Gill Hotels Co., Inc.*, 622 So.2d 163 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); *Kolosky v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 472 So.2d 891 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), *review denied*, 482 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986).

This general duty of reasonable care under the circumstances is not limited merely to detecting dangerous conditions on the premises *after* they occur and then correcting them; it plainly requires that actions be taken to reduce, minimize, or eliminate *foreseeable* risks *before* they manifest themselves as particular dangerous conditions on the premises. *See, e. g., Springtree Properties, Inc. v. Hammond*, 692 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1997) (restaurant's duty of care can include providing barriers in anticipation of cars jumping curb); *Everett v. Restaurant & Catering Corp., supra* (restaurant's duty of care includes anticipating injury from negligently-placed menu board); *U.S. Security Services Corp. v. Ramada Inn, Inc.*, 665 So.2d 268 (Fla. 3d

DCA) (hotel's duty of care includes providing adequate security to prevent foreseeable criminal attacks), *review denied*, 675 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1996); *Nichols v. Home Depot, Inc.*, 541 So.2d 639 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (store owner's duty of care includes taking precautions to minimize possibility of use of store's ladders by customers); *Fontana v. Wilson World Maingate Condominium*, 717 So.2d 199 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (hotel's duty of care includes conducting regular inspections of its furnishings to detect wear and tear); *Maher v. Best Western Inn, Route 50*, 717 So.2d 97 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (innkeeper's duty of care includes taking precautions to protect guests from dogs permitted on the premises); *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Rogers*, 714 So.2d 577 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (store owner's duty of care includes stacking goods so as to minimize risk of falling on customers); *Budet v. K-Mart Corp.*, 491 So.2d 1248 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) (store owner's duty of care includes taking precautions to minimize risk of customer's unauthorized use of unwieldy, oversized garden carts).

And in the even more specific context presented here, the duty owed to invitees is not limited merely to detecting slip and fall hazards *after* they occur and then correcting them; it plainly requires reasonably prudent precautions to reduce, minimize, or eliminate foreseeable risks of slip and fall hazards *before* they appear on the business owner's floor. *See, e. g., Wells v. Palm Beach Kennel Club*, 160 Fla. 502, 35 So.2d 720 (1948) (where defendant dog track was selling bottled drinks, its duty of care included providing trash receptacles for empty bottles); *Mabrey v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc.*, 438 So.2d 937 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (given that ship's

deck was prone to accumulations of moisture, shipowner's duty of care included minimizing risk by applying non-skid coating); Nance v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc., 436 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (given recurring nature of cash register receipts on floor, store owner's duty of care included taking precautions to prevent the hazard), review denied, 447 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1984); Bennett v. Mattison, 382 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (given recurring nature of wet and slippery hallway, apartment owner's duty of care included conducting regular maintenance); Fazio v. Dania Jai-Alai Palace, Inc., 473 So.2d 1345 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (jai-alai fronton's duty of care included conducting regular maintenance of recurring slip and fall hazards); Firth v. Marhoefer, 406 So.2d 521 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (given recurring nature of wet elevator floor, apartment owner's duty of care included taking precautions to minimize hazard); Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Burse, 229 So.2d 266 (Fla. 4th DCA) 1969) (given fact that plastic six-pack container tops accumulated on beer shelf, store owner's duty of care included providing suitable trash receptacle in vicinity), cert. denied, 237 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1970). See also Schaap v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc., 579 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (recognizing that proof of notice of particular hazard is not required where proof of a negligent "method of operation" is available).

In short, it is not necessary to prove actual or constructive notice of the particular slip and fall hazard in every slip and fall case. An alternative plainly exists. Evidence from which a jury could find that the defendant's "method of operation" is unreasonably dangerous -- i.e., that the defendant failed to take reasonably prudent precautions to reduce, minimize, or eliminate a reasonably foreseeable risk that slip

and fall hazards will occur -- is sufficient to present a jury question on the issue of a defendant's negligence. And recently, the Third District said precisely that:

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