IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

CASE NO. 96,244

DEC 2 0 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

PATRICIA MARKOWITZ and ROBERT MARKOWITZ, her husband,

Petitioners,

v.

HELEN HOMES OF KENDALL CORPORATION, a Florida corporation, a/k/a KENDALL HEALTH CARE PROPERTIES, fictitious name, d/b/a THE PALACE LIVING FACILITY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ANGELA C. FLOWERS Kubicki Draper 25 West Flagler Street City National Bank Building Penthouse Suite Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone No.: (305) 982-6636

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was properly entered for defendant in this slip and fall case.

A premises owner cannot be held liable for injuries resulting to invitees from a dangerous condition on the premises without a finding of fault. Plaintiffs presented

absolutely no evidence from which a jury could find that the defendant was negligent.

Specifically, defendant neither did nor failed to do anything to cause plaintiff to slip and fall.

The doctrine of negligent "method of operation" has no application to this case. Liability for negligent operation has been limited to situations involving inherently dangerous operations, or operations conducted in a negligent manner as determined by prior recurring dangerous conditions. Once a negligent method of operation is established, there is a heightened duty of care. Plaintiffs' attempts to expand this doctrine to cover any situation in which it can be said that there is a general risk of slip and fall must fail. Absent an inherently dangerous operation or a history of prior slip and fall incidents, the ordinary duty rules apply. Nor can expert testimony establish a negligent method of operation. Absent evidence of prior incidents, an expert opinion stating that a method of operation is negligent is nothing more than an unsupported legal conclusion.

Alternatively, plaintiffs ask this Court to expand the law of slip and fall liability by creating a new standard of constructive notice. Recognizing the absence of any evidence of how long the grape was on the floor and the affirmative evidence of defendant's regular floor maintenance procedures, plaintiffs would impose a heightened duty anytime an agent of the property owner is in the vicinity of a slip and

fall incident. In essence, plaintiffs seek to have defendant declared an insurer of the safety of all invitees by requiring that anything less than constant surveillance of the floor would result in liability. This is not the law. If a property owner takes reasonable steps to maintain its premises, and does not become aware of a dangerous condition, by actual or constructive knowledge, then there is no fault on the part of the property owner.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT PLAINTIFFS WERE UNABLE TO ESTABLISH ANY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF DEFENDANT AND THAT DEFENDANT, THEREFORE, WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The simple facts, taken in a light most favorable to plaintiffs, are that Mrs. Markowitz slipped on a grape that was dropped by a resident who was, with the permission of defendant, carrying fruit from the dining area at the conclusion of the lunch hour in a place where numerous members of defendant's staff were either currently located or had recently passed without noticing anything on the floor, following a recent cleaning of the floor. On these facts, plaintiffs have conceded that there is no evidence of deficiencies in the defendant's regular floor maintenance procedures, and no evidence of how long the grape was on the floor. Rather, plaintiffs assert that the "method of operation" (i.e. allowing residents the freedom to carry food

back to their rooms following meals), created an unreasonably dangerous condition as a matter of law, and that the defendant is charged with constructive notice, because it had a duty to constantly monitor the floor and should have had actual notice of the condition the instant the grape fell. It is defendant's position that well established principles of law, as set forth below, conclusively establish that plaintiffs cannot prove their allegations of negligence based upon the facts developed in this case.

"The purpose of a motion for summary judgment is to determine if there be sufficient evidence to justify a trial upon the issues made by the pleadings." Connolly v. Sebeco, Inc., 89 So. 2d 482, 484 (Fla. 1956). Summary judgment is properly entered where the facts reveal no legal exposure to the defendant.

A movant for summary judgment has the initial burden of demonstrating the nonexistence of any genuine issue of material fact. But once he tenders competent evidence to support his motion, the opposing party must come forward with counter-evidence sufficient to reveal a genuine issue. It is not enough for the opposing party merely to assert that an issue does exist.

Buitrago v. Rohr, 672 So. 2d 646, 648 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), quoting, Landers v. Milton, 370 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla. 1979). Accordingly, summary judgment was properly entered for defendant.

A. Defendant's method of operation was not negligent as a matter of law.

Plaintiffs urge this Court to impose liability based upon the defendant's practice of allowing residents of the assisted living facility to carry fruit back to their rooms following meals. Despite the fact that there was no evidence of any prior food spills caused by this procedure, plaintiffs claim that this constituted an unreasonably dangerous method of operation. As set forth below, defendant asserts that the doctrine of negligent operation should not be applied to its facility as a matter of law. Liability for negligent operation requires either an inherently dangerous activity or a showing of a recurring or ongoing problem that, because of the nature of defendant's business, imposes constructive notice of the condition that caused the plaintiff's injury based upon knowledge of prior dangerous conditions.

This Court first recognized the "method of operation" basis for liability in slip and fall cases in Wells v. Palm Beach Kennel Club, 35 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1948). The imposition of a higher degree of diligence was imposed upon places of amusement, thus requiring a continuous duty to look after the safety of its patrons. The imposition of this duty was held to be commensurate with the business conducted, i.e. a business that invited large crowds to congregate in a place of amusement where food and drink are served in large quantity. <u>Id</u>. at 721.

Subsequent cases have described the "method of operation" basis for liability as requiring a showing that:

- 1. Either the method of operation is inherently dangerous, or the particular operation is being conducted in a negligent manner; and
- 2. The condition of the floor was created as a result of the negligent method of operation.

<u>Publix Super Market, Inc. v. Sanchez</u>, 700 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), <u>rev. denied</u>, 717 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1998); <u>Schaap v. Publix Supermarkets</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 579 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

The imposition of slip and fall liability on the basis that the "method of operation" requires constant maintenance and supervision has been limited to places of amusement. See Wells, 35 So. 2d at 721 (race track); Ochlockonee Banks Restaurant, Inc. v. Colvin, 700 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (dance hall/saloon); Fazio v. Dania Jai-Alai Palace, Inc., 473 So. 2d 1345 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (Jai-Alai Fronton).

The other cases cited by plaintiffs for this point are not, in fact, operational negligence cases, but evaluate liability under traditional concepts of notice and negligent maintenance in light of recurring or ongoing problems. <u>Compare Mabrey v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc.</u>, 438 So. 2d 937 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (actual knowledge

evidenced by posting of "slippery when wet" sign and evidence of negligent maintenance); Nance v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc., 436 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), rev. denied, 447 So. 2d 889 (Fla. 1984) (evidence of prior accidents indicating notice of ongoing problem); Firth v. Marhoefer, 406 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (recurring problem imposed duty to take reasonable preventative measures); Bennett v. Mattison, 382 So. 2d 873 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (evidence of actual notice and negligent maintenance); Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Burse, 229 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), cert. denied, 237 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1970) (lack of inspection for an hour and a half of area known for ongoing dangerous condition). These cases impose a duty to regularly maintain the premises, usually through a routine inspection program, or to correct a known dangerous condition, such as a slippery surface. As noted earlier, defendant had in place a routine inspection and maintenance program with which plaintiffs could not find any fault.

The district court properly disposed of plaintiffs' method of operation argument on the ground that there was no heightened duty because the activity involved was not inherently dangerous and there was no evidence of prior similar slip and fall incidents so as to put defendant on notice that it should be looking for food. The three errors asserted by plaintiffs are baseless.

Throughout these proceedings, there has never been any challenge to the fact

that defendant presented competent evidence that there were no prior similar slip and fall incidents in defendant's facility. For the first time, plaintiffs suggest in Petitioners' Brief on the Merits at 17 that defendant did not establish the absence of prior similar slip and falls. As the Court will recall, plaintiffs have requested appellate review in this matter on the facts as taken from defendant's motion for summary judgment and plaintiffs' response, rather than supplementing the record with the actual evidentiary material. As stated in defendant's motion for summary judgment, there were no prior falls occasioned by a substance on the floor.² Accordingly, plaintiffs are estopped from any belated attempt to challenge the facts asserted in the motion for summary judgment.

Second, plaintiffs are wrong in their contention that the trial and appellate courts were precluded from entering summary judgment on the issue of negligent operation. Plaintiffs explicitly sought to have their negligent operation theory considered on summary judgment by requesting leave to amend their complaint to assert the theory and moving for rehearing of the summary judgment motion to address that specific issue. Plaintiffs invited the trial court to consider this issue, and the trial

² If plaintiffs were to supplement the record, the deposition of defendant's building supervisor would reveal that she testified there were no incidents of slip and falls as the result of a substance on the floor during the four years that she worked at the facility.

court did so "By agreement of the parties . . . so that Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment could be considered on its merits without regard to any procedural or pleading issues." [R. 131]. Again, plaintiffs are estopped from asserting that the relief they requested now constitutes reversible error.

Finally, the district court's decision is substantively correct. In the first instance, operational negligence is only applicable to places of amusement which have been identified as warranting a heightened standard of care. Second, if the doctrine were to be extended beyond places of amusement, there must exist evidence of an inherently dangerous activity or prior similar incidents arising from the method of operation. As the court stated when the plaintiff sought to extend the doctrine to grocery stores in <u>Sanchez</u>:

If we were to accept the plaintiff's argument, we would be holding that grocery stores are liable whenever a customer slips and falls on any substance on the floor, regardless of notice, since grocery stores normally have either store or corporate policies which do not allow foreign substances to be on floors. Moreover, the plaintiff's argument would also require us to ignore case law which requires either actual or constructive notice in slip-and-fall cases involving transitory, foreign substances.

700 So. 2d at 407.

In <u>Sanchez</u>, the court held, as a matter of law, that the method of operation (i.e. the operation of a demonstration table with food samples) was not inherently

dangerous and that the demonstration table was not being operated in a negligent manner (i.e. defendant did not ignore actual or constructive knowledge). Likewise, the First District refused to expand the doctrine of operational negligence to supermarkets in Rowe v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 714 So. 2d 1180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), rev. denied, 731 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1999). In Rowe, the court reasoned that the doctrine should not be extended beyond places of amusement. Id. at 1180; see also Schaap, 579 So. 2d at 834 (rejecting plaintiff's suggestion that providing food samples required the exercise of a heightened standard of care). The first district also refused to expand the doctrine of operational negligence in Soriano v. B & B Cash Grocery Stores, Inc., 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1116 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (declining to apply the theory of operational negligence as an alternative to require actual or constructive notice where injuries result from slipping on a foreign substance).

Contrary to plaintiffs' assertions, there is no issue of foreseeability in this case.³ Assuming that a premises owner owes a duty to guard against the foreseeable danger of slip and falls where food substances may be present, the issue is whether defendant satisfied the duty imposed by law. Unless plaintiffs can establish that defendant owed a duty to prevent its residents from carrying food from the dining room absent the

³ Thus, the numerous "foreseeability" cases cited by plaintiffs need not be debated.

assistance or supervision of staff, defendant fulfilled the ordinary duties of a premises owner by having in place routine inspection and maintenance procedures designed to discover any hazardous conditions within a reasonable period of time. Thus, the district court, by its holding, did not declare that defendant owed no duty. The district court merely followed the well-established law in slip and fall situations that liability must be based on actual or constructive notice.

Moreover, the assertion that the expert affidavit proved a prima facie case is inaccurate. In general, negligent method of operation liability is based upon a finding that a condition occurred with such frequency that the premises owner should have known of its existence. See Publix Super Market, Inc. v. Sanchez, 700 So. 2d at 405; see also Wells v. Palm Beach Kennel Club, 35 So. 2d at 720. In this case, plaintiffs do not claim to have presented any facts to support the elements of a negligent method of operation claim, but rely solely on the expert affidavit. The affidavit fails to create a question of fact under the doctrine of operational negligence because the law simply does not impose liability for a single incident that is not inherently dangerous. Moreover, the statement that an unreasonably dangerous condition existed is not only an impermissible legal conclusion, but also fails to satisfy the elements of a negligent

⁴ See Town of Palm Beach v. Palm Beach County, 460 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1984) (it is not the function of an expert witness to draw legal conclusions).

method of operation claim. It is the absence of facts to support plaintiffs' negligent method of operation claim that required the entry of summary judgment in favor of defendant.

B. There is no evidence to support a finding that defendant was on constructive notice or should have had actual notice that a grape had fallen to the floor.

None of the case law cited by plaintiffs supports their contention that: defendant was required to be on a heightened awareness, to anticipate that food may be dropped by residents leaving the dining area, and address this risk by constant observance of the residents as they passed through the hallway after lunch to have actually seen the grape when it fell. This is not a description of "reasonable care." Rather, plaintiffs are describing what an "insurer of safety" might be required to do.

Traditional concepts of constructive notice apply to this case. The district court ruled that "there was no evidence to suggest that the grape was on the floor for a length of time that would place the nursing home on reasonable notice of its existence." [App. 2]. Plaintiffs concede this fact. [Petitioners' Brief on the Merits at 5]. The district court also found that there was no evidence that simply "because three nurses were in the vicinity of the fall they saw or should have seen the grape." [App. 2]. In response, plaintiffs argue for a new rule to hold the property owner liable as an insurer of the premises.

To the extent that plaintiffs' argument asserts that defendant's method of operation should have included an ongoing patrol of every inch of the floor, defendant would adopt the arguments in opposition to the negligent operation claim presented above. There was no evidence of a recurring problem with slip and falls in this case, and no inherently dangerous condition that would give rise to a heightened standard of care.

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